Sexual fantasy

From Wikipedia, the free encyclopedia

A sexual fantasy, also called an erotic fantasy, is a mental image or pattern of thought that stirs a person's sexuality and can create or enhance sexual arousal. [1] A sexual fantasy can be created by the person's imagination or memory, and may be triggered autonomously or by external stimulation such as erotic literature or pornography, a physical object, or sexual attraction to another person. Anything that may give rise to a sexual arousal may also produce a sexual fantasy, and sexual arousal may in turn give rise to fantasies.

Sexual fantasies are nearly universal, [2] being reported in many societies across the globe. However, because of the nature of



One of the illustrations to De Figuris Veneris by Édouard-Henri Avril. Depiction of fantasy during male masturbation

some fantasies, the actual putting of such fantasies into action is far less common, due to cultural, social, moral, and religious constraints.^[3] In some cases, even a discussion by a person of sexual fantasies is subject to social taboos and inhibitions. Some people find it convenient to act out fantasies through sexual roleplay. A fantasy may be a positive or negative experience, or even both. It may be in response to a past experience and can influence future sexual behavior. A person may not wish to enact a sexual fantasy in real life, and since the process is entirely imaginary, they are not limited to acceptable or practical fantasies, which can provide information on the psychological processes behind sexual behavior.

Sexual fantasy can also pertain to a genre of literature, film or work of art. Such works may be appreciated for their aesthetics, though many people may feel uncomfortable with such works. For example, women in prison films may be described as sexual fantasies, as are pornographic films. In the case of films, the term may describe a part of the film, such as a fantasy scene or sequence. Besides pornographic films, a number of mainstream films have included sexual fantasy scenes, such as Business Is Business (1971), Amarcord (1973), American Beauty (1999) and others. In many cases, the use of fantasy scenes enables the inclusion of material into a work indicating the sexualised mental state of a character.

Contents

- 1 Methodology
- 2 Purposes
- 3 Common fantasies
- 4 Gender differences

- 4.1 Origins of sexual fantasies
- 4.2 Types of sexual fantasies
- 4.3 Frequent themes
- 4.4 Age
- 4.5 Paraphilic sexual fantasies
- 4.6 Execution of sexual fantasies
- 4.7 Theoretical frameworks
- 5 Sexual orientation
- 6 Force
- 7 Social views
- 8 Guilt and jealousy
- 9 Fantasies and sexual crimes
 - 9.1 Deviant sexual fantasies
 - 9.2 Sexual crimes
 - 9.3 Risk factors
 - 9.4 Sadistic sexual fantasies
 - 9.5 Sadistic sexual fantasies and crime
- 10 References

Methodology

Because of the difficulty of objectively identifying and measuring the nature of sexual fantasies, many studies deal with conscious fantasies when a person is awake. These fantasies are often measured using one of three techniques:^[1]

- 1. Providing anonymous respondents with a checklist of fantasies and asking them to indicate which ones they have experienced, how often, and in what context. This method relies on retrospective recall, which may limit its accuracy. A checklist may not be comprehensive, and as a result may be biased towards some fantasies.
- 2. Asking anonymous respondents to write, in narrative form, their sexual fantasies. This method also relies on retrospective recall. Some studies limit the number of fantasies entered (such as only the most frequent ones), and respondents may not write down all of their fantasies anyway—they may forget infrequent fantasies, not want to write too many down, or be more subject to social desirability bias than with a checklist.
- 3. Having respondents record the fantasies they experience over a given period of time via checklists or diaries. This method requires a long period of time to be representative, and may be impractical.

To measure the reliability of a person's reporting of their fantasies, researchers may compare a person's reported sexual arousal against actual measures of arousal, ^[4] using techniques such as vaginal photoplethysmography, penile strain gauges, or other tools, such as genital pulse amplitude, genital blood volume, and heart rate. ^[5] A 1977 study found that males judged arousal based on blood volume far better than females, and that males and females were equal when judging arousal based on pulse amplitude measures. ^[6] Additionally, females were better at judging low arousal. ^[7]

As with studies of sex in general, samples used in studies may be too small, not be fully random, or not fully representative of a population. This makes similarities between studies especially important.^[1] Women may be prone to underreporting the frequency of fantasy because they do not realize that they are becoming aroused, or they will not say that they are; one common problem is that they will imagine romantic imagery and become aroused, but not report the fantasy because it is not sexually explicit.^[8] Many studies are modern and are carried out in western society, which, through factors like gender roles and taboo, are not widely representative, raising the need for more studies in different societies and historical eras.^[9] With regards to age, there is very little knowledge of sexual fantasies in children aged 5 to 12, and there is a need for longitudinal studies across a life span.^[9] Sex is often a taboo topic, so conducting a truly honest and representative example can be difficult in some areas. For example, a 1997 study on South Asian gay men found that almost 75% were afraid of being "found out", which complicates studies.^[10]

Purposes

The scenarios for sexual fantasies vary greatly between individuals and are influenced by personal desires and experiences, and range from the mundane to the bizarre. Fantasies are frequently used to escape real-life sexual restraints by imagining dangerous or illegal scenarios, such as rape, castration, or kidnapping.^[11] They allow people to imagine themselves in roles they do not normally have, such as power, innocence and guilt.^[12] Fantasies have enormous influence over sexual behaviour and can be the sole cause of an orgasm.^[13] While there are several common themes in fantasies, any object or act can be eroticized.^[14]



The Dream of the Fisherman's Wife by Hokusai is an artistic depiction of a sexual fantasy.

Sexual fantasies are increasingly viewed as a necessary component to a healthy relationship.^[15] Accordingly, theorists have argued that fantasies may be used to encourage and promote sexual pleasure between partners.^[16] Researchers have additionally found a positive correlation between instances of sexual fantasising and increased orgasm, arousal, and general contentment.^[2] The relative benefits of sexual fantasies are summarised in a statement by Stroller; "sexual fantasises are a private pornography in which we rehearse over and over again needs that are nearly impossible to fulfil in actual sex".^[17] Sexual fantasising therefore allows an individual to fulfil desires that

cannot be realistically achieved. In this sense, researchers assert that fantasising about extra-marital, or multiple-partner sex is positively correlated with long-term partnerships. As such, sexual fantasies are viewed as means to combat sexual dissatisfaction.^[18]

Sexual fantasising may also be used to settle relational hardships, as opposed to sexual dissatisfaction. For instance, women from disturbed marriages were found to fantasise significantly more often than happily married women.^[19] Creating hypothetical scenarios may be used as a coping mechanism,

particularly by women, in handling stress and discomfort. As such, fantasies allow individuals to enter a new realm (e.g. experience a position of power, innocence, or guilt) that contrasts the source of anguish, and enhances feelings of self-worth.

The purpose and function of sexual fantasies are explained rather differently from an evolutionary perspective. Bowlby's (1969/1982) attachment theory asserts that the absence of adequate attachment figures can devastate self-esteem.^[20] It is suggested that more anxiously attached individuals use sex to attain emotional security. Accordingly, they might engage in sex through a longing for sexual intimacy, and increase the frequency of sexual behaviour under conditions that challenge the status of their relationship.^[21] Contrastingly, the avoidant attachment type is apprehensive about the intimacy posed by sexual relations, and will take active measures to avoid feelings of closeness. Patterns of sexual behaviour include emotion free sex with casual partners, engaging in sex to promote oneself, and feelings of detachment during intercourse.^[22] Sexual fantasies are likely to follow attachment-related themes. It is noted that anxious attachment individuals report significantly more instances of sexual fantasising, and portray the self as feeble, dependable and powerless.^[23] Avoidant attachment types report fantasies in which relationships are regarded as cold, unfeeling and impersonal. As such, sexual fantasies serve the primary function of fulfilling interpersonal goals through the mode of mental representation.

Evolutionary theory provides another interesting explanation as to the purpose and function of gender differences in sexual fantasies. Research literature states that women are more likely to prioritise their own physical and emotional sensations, where men conjure images of sexual partners. Women are also more likely to fantasise about a single individual with whom they have shared history, or those whom they wish to pursue a long-term relationship. Throughout the course of time, it has proved advantageous for the male to copulate with young and fertile females. They evolved an ability to decipher "fresh features" of reproductive partners; clear skin, thick hair, fuller lips, and so forth. By comparison, females are driven to reproduce on the basis of parental investment, and a quality gene pool possessed by the male. [24] From a female perspective, the risks of copulating with multiple male partners far outweigh any potential benefits. [25] It is therefore unsurprising that males visualise specific physical features; its origins and purpose can be found in evolution. It also follows that where males project outwardly, viewing women and a means to obtain sexual pleasure, women have become conditioned to remain passive in this role. They do so under close scrutiny of male sexual attention, [26] to fantasise a specific and special partner.

A person may have no desire to carry out a fantasy; people often use fantasies to help plan out future sexual encounters.^[27] Fantasies occur in all individuals and at any time of the day, although it has been suggested that they are more common among frequent daydreamers.^[28] Sexual fantasy is frequent during masturbation,^[29] although this may be truer for men than for women.^[a]

During sexual contact, some people can use their fantasies to "turn off" undesirable aspects of an act.^[30] Conversely, a person may use fantasy to focus and maintain arousal, such as a man receiving fellatio ignoring a distraction.^[31] Men tend to be aware of only parts of themselves during sex—they are more likely to focus on the physical stimulation of one area, and as such, do not see themselves as a "whole". ^[32]

Many couples share their fantasies to feel closer and gain more intimacy and trust, or simply to become more aroused or effect a more powerful physical response.^[12] Some couples share fantasies as a form of outercourse; ^[33] this has been offered as an explanation for the rise of BDSM during the 1980s — in order to avoid contracting HIV, people turned to BDSM as a safe outlet for sexual fantasy. ^[34] Couples may also act out their fantasies through sexual roleplay.

Fantasies may also be used as a part of sex therapy. They can enhance insufficiently exciting sexual acts to promote higher levels of sexual arousal and release. A 1986 study that looked at married women indicated that sexual fantasies helped them achieve arousal and orgasm. [35] As a part of therapy, anorgasmic women are commonly encouraged to use fantasy and masturbation. [36]

Common fantasies

The incidence of sexual fantasies is nearly universal,^[37] but vary by gender, age, sexual orientation, and society. However, because of a reliance on retrospective recall, as well as response bias and taboo, there is an inherent difficulty in measuring the frequency of types of fantasies.^[1] In general, the most common fantasies for men and women are: reliving an exciting sexual experience, imagining sex with a current partner, and imagining sex with a different partner.^[38] There is no consistent difference in the popularity of these three categories of fantasies.^[39] The next most common fantasies involve oral sex, sex in a romantic location, sexual power or irresistibility, and forced sex.^{[38][39]}

Fantasy	Carried it out (%)	Fantasized about it (%)
Infidelity	16	30
Threesome	14	21
Sex at work	12	10

According to a 2004 United States survey, the incidence of certain fantasies is higher than the actual performance. [40]



Oral sex is one of the most common fantasies among men and women

Gender differences

Origins of sexual fantasies

The sexes have been found to contrast with respect to where their fantasies originate from. Men tend to fantasize about past sexual experiences, whereas women are more likely to conjure an imaginary lover or sexual encounter that they have not experienced previously.^[41] Male fantasies tend to focus more on visual imagery and explicit anatomic detail, with men being more interested in visual sexual stimulation and fantasies about casual sex encounters, regardless of sexual orientation.^[42] On the other hand,

women's fantasies tend to be more focused upon mental sexual stimulation and contain more emotion and connection. Thus, women are more likely to report romantic sexual fantasies that are high in intimacy and affection, for instance associating their male partner with heroism and viewing them as chivalric rescuers. Evolutionary theory offers an explanation for this finding, such that women may be likely to show commitment to their male partner in return for his investment of resources to help raise her offspring, thus increasing offspring chance of survival.

Types of sexual fantasies

Much research has been conducted which has highlighted several gender differences in sexual fantasies. Some of the patterns which have frequently emerged include men's greater tendency to report sexual fantasies falling in the following categories: exploratory, intimate, impersonal, and sadomasochism. [46] Exploratory fantasies include those of homosexual encounters and group sex, whilst fantasies of watching others engage in sexual intercourse and fetishism are classed as impersonal sexual fantasies. Women are also likely to report fantasies involving the same-sex partner, or those with a famous person, [47] although both sexes have been found to prefer intimate fantasies over the other three types outlined, including fantasies of oral sex and sex outdoors. [46]

Frequent themes

Another way the sexes differ is that men are much more likely to fantasize about having multiple sexual partners (i.e., having threesomes or orgies) compared to women [38] and seek greater partner variation in their sexual fantasies. [48] Evolutionary theory suggests that this may be due to men's capacity to produce many offspring at any one time by impregnating multiple females, and thus predicts that males will be more open to the concept of multiple partnerships in order to increase reproductive success and continue their genetic line. [47] The sexes also differ in terms of how much they



An artistic depiction of group sex; a sexual fantasy found to be more common in males. Produced by Cornelis van Haarlem in 1615.

fantasize about dominance and submission. Men fantasize equally often about dominance and submission, whereas women fantasize about submission more frequently than dominance.^[49] Despite these differences, it is important to note that most individuals do not conform to these gendered sexual stereotypes, and that male sexuality is not innately aggressive, nor is female sexuality inherently passive, and that these stereotypes may decline with age.^[48] Sexual fantasies may instead vary as a result of individual differences, such as personality or learning experiences, and not gender per se.^[50] Indeed, it has been suggested that gender differences in sexual fantasies have actually narrowed over time, and may continue to do so, for example with regard to variety of sexual fantasy and the amount of fantasizing reported by each of the sexes.^[51]

Table 2. Proportion of sexual fantasies experienced, divided by gender. [47]

Percentage of Fantasy (%)			
	Men	Women	
Group sex	42	16	
Famous person	16	27	
Homosexuality	10	19	
Stranger	33	39	

Age

The age of first experiencing a sexual fantasy has also been found to differ between the sexes. Males are likely to report this at a younger age, typically between the years of 11 and 13,^[52] and describe these as being more explicit in content.^[53] Themes that were common to both genders regarding first sexual fantasies included sex with celebrities (such as film stars), and also teachers.^[53] It has been noted that sexual fantasy preferences of the two genders also change as a function of age. For instance, younger men have been found to endorse more fantasies with multiple partners, a trend which declines with age, whilst homosexual fantasies increase slightly. Meanwhile, for women, fantasies with strangers and same-sex partners remain relatively stable across the lifespan.^[47]

Paraphilic sexual fantasies

Sex differences have also been found with regard to paraphilic fantasies (i.e. those which are considered to be atypical). Examples of paraphilic sexual fantasies include incest, voyeurism, transvestic fetishism, sex with animals (see zoophilia), and pedophilia. One study reported that over 60% of men admitted to a sexual fantasy involving intercourse with an underage partner, and 33% of males reported rape fantasies.
[54] Along with other sexual fantasies, it is thought that the age of occurrence for paraphilic sexual fantasies is usually before 18 years, although this has been found to vary according to the specific fantasy at hand. [54]

Table 3. Types of paraphilic fantasies and age of occurrence. [54]

	Age of onset (years: months)
Transvestism	13:6
Fetishism	16:0
Voyeurism	17:4
Non-incestuous heterosexual paedophilia	21:1
Non-incestuous homosexual paedophilia	18:2

Unusual sexual fantasies are more common in men, with fantasies of urinating on their sexual partner and being urinated on being significantly higher among males.^[55] The Diagnostic and Statistical Manual of Mental Disorders Fourth Edition (DSM-IV) states that paraphilias are rarely diagnosed in women, with the exception of sexual masochism.^[56] Furthermore, sexual arousal has been found to be greater in men than in women when asked to entertain the thought of engaging in paraphilic sexual activity.^[57] It may, however, be the case that paraphilias are reported less often in women because they are underresearched in women. Paraphilic sexual fantasies in females include sexual sadism, exhibitionism, and pedophilia.^[56]

Execution of sexual fantasies

Sexual fantasies may be more likely to be executed in contemporary society due to more liberalized attitudes towards the previously taboo topic of sex, and increased awareness of the variety of sexual experiences that now exist.^[51] Women are more likely to act upon their sexual fantasies than men since it has been suggested that they fantasize about sexual activities within their range of experience, which therefore makes them more possible to act out.^[51] The link between sexual fantasies involving dominance (e.g. rape fantasies) and likelihood of displaying aggressive behavior in real life has been investigated, with connections being found in relation to sexual crimes committed by men and fantasies of sexual coercion.^[58] This may be especially more likely if the individual displays high levels of psychotic traits.^[59]

Theoretical frameworks

Since numerous variables influence sexual fantasy, the differences between gender can be examined through multiple theoretical frameworks. Social constructionism predicts that sexual socialisation is a strong predictor of sexual fantasy and that gender differences are the result of social influences.^[60] From this perspective, it is believed that female sexuality is more malleable since it is influenced to a greater extent by cultural views and expectations regarding how women should think and behave.^[60] In contrast,

evolutionary theory (also known as evolutionary psychology or sociobiology) predicts that sexual fantasy is predisposed to biological factors. For example, some studies have found that women prefer fantasizing about familiar lovers, whereas male sexual fantasies involve anonymous partners. A social constructionist explanation may say that this is because women are raised to be chaste and selective with men, whereas evolutionary theory may state that ancestral women preferred the reproductive security of having one partner, such that being faithful to him will result in a greater likelihood of him investing resources in her and her offspring, an idea which is still ingrained in modern women today. Evolutionary psychology can also help to shed light on the finding that females have a higher proportion of sexual fantasies involving a male celebrity. The theory suggests that this mating strategy may have been advantageous for our female ancestors, such that affiliation with a high status male increases offspring survival rate via protection and provision.

Sexual orientation

In 1979, Masters and Johnson carried out one of the first studies on sexual fantasy in homosexual men and women, though their data-collection method is unclear. Their sample consisted of 30 gay men and lesbians, and they found that the five most common fantasies for homosexual men were images of sexual anatomy (primarily the penis and buttocks), forced sexual encounters, an idyllic setting for sex, group sex, and sex with women. A 1985 study found that homosexual men preferred unspecified sexual activity with other men, oral sex, and sex with another man not previously involved. In both studies, homosexual and heterosexual men shared similar fantasies, but with genders switched. A 2006 non-representative study looked at homosexual men in India. It found that when compared to heterosexual male fantasies, homosexual males were more focused on exploratory, intimate, and impersonal fantasies. There were no differences in sadomasochistic fantasies. In general, there was little difference in the top fantasies of homosexual versus heterosexual males. At the time of the study, homosexuality was illegal.

A 2005 study compared heterosexual and homosexual women in the Los Angeles metropolitan area and found some differences in the content of their fantasies. In gender-specific findings, homosexual women had more fantasies about specific parts of a woman (face, breasts, clitoris, vagina, buttocks, arms or hair), while heterosexual women had more fantasies about specific parts of a man's body (face, penis, buttocks, arms or hair). Homosexual women also had more fantasies of "delighting many women"; there was no significant difference when subjects were asked if they fantasized about delighting many men. There was no significant difference in responses to questions that were not gender-specific. [62]

Force

Rape or ravishment is a common sexual fantasy among both men and women, either generically or as an ingredient in a particular sexual scenario. The fantasy may involve the fantasist as either the one being forced or coerced into sexual activity or as the perpetrator. Some studies have found that women tend to fantasize about being forced into sex more commonly than men. A 1974 study by Hariton and Singer found that being "overpowered or forced to surrender" was the second most frequent fantasy in their survey; a 1984 study by Knafo and Jaffe ranked being overpowered as their study's most common fantasy during intercourse; and a 1988 study by Pelletier and Herold found that over half of their female

respondents had fantasies of forced sex. Other studies have found the theme, but with lower frequency and popularity. However, these female fantasies in no way imply that the subject desires to be forced into non-consensual sex in reality—the fantasies often contain romantic images where the woman imagines herself being seduced, and the male that she imagines is desirable. Most importantly, the woman remains in full control of her fantasy. The fantasies do not usually involve the woman getting hurt. Conversely, some women who have been sexually victimized in the past report unwanted sexual fantasies, similar to flashbacks of their victimization. They are realistic, and the woman may recall the physical and psychological pain involved.

The most frequently cited hypothesis for why women fantasize of being forced into some sexual activity is that the fantasy avoids societally induced guilt—the woman does not have to admit responsibility for her sexual desires and behavior. A 1978 study by Moreault and Follingstad was consistent with this



Rape fantasy is common in both men and women Image: Peter Paul Rubens - The Rape of the Daughters of Leucippus.jpg

hypothesis, and found that women with high levels of sex guilt were more likely to report fantasy themed around being overpowered, dominated, and helpless. In contrast, Pelletier and Herold used a different measure of guilt and found no correlation. Other research suggests that women who report forced sex fantasies have a more positive attitude towards sexuality, contradicting the guilt hypothesis.

[65] [38] A 1998 study by Strassberg and Lockerd found that women who fantasized about force were generally less guilty and more erotophilic, and as a result had more frequent and more varied fantasies. Additionally, it said that force fantasies are clearly not the most common or the most frequent. [66]

Social views

Social views on sexual fantasy (and sex in general) differ throughout the world. The privacy of a person's fantasy is influenced greatly by social conditions. Because of the taboo status of sexual fantasies in many places around the world, open discussion—or even acknowledgment—is forbidden, forcing fantasies to stay private. In more lax conditions, a person may share their fantasies with close friends, significant others, or a group of people with whom the person is comfortable.

The moral acceptance and formal study of sexual fantasy in Western culture is relatively new. Prior to their acceptance, sexual fantasies were seen as evil or sinful, and they were commonly seen as horrid thoughts planted into the minds of people by "agents of the devil". [67] Even when psychologists were willing to accept and study fantasies, they showed little understanding and went so far as to diagnose sexual fantasies in females as a sign of hysteria. [11] Prior to the early twentieth century, many experts viewed sexual fantasy (particularly in females) as abnormal. Sigmund Freud suggested that those who experienced sexual fantasies were sexually deprived or frustrated or that they lacked adequate sexual stimulation and satisfaction. [68] Over several decades, sexual fantasies became more acceptable as notable works and compilations, such as "Morality, Sexual Facts and Fantasies", by Dr Patricia Petersen, Alfred Kinsey's Kinsey Reports, *Erotic Fantasies: A Study of the Sexual Imagination* by Drs. Phyllis and

Eberhard Kronhausen, and Nancy Friday's *My Secret Garden*, were published. ^[69] Today, they are regarded as natural and positive elements of one's sexuality, and are often used to enhance sexual practices, both in normal settings and in therapy. ^[68] Many Christians believe that the Bible prohibits sexual fantasies about people other than one's spouse in Matthew 5:28. Others believe that St Paul includes fantasy when he condemns works of the flesh such as "immorality" or "uncleanness". Despite the Western World's relatively lax attitudes towards sexual fantasy, many people still feel shame and guilt about their fantasies. This may contribute to personal sexual dysfunction, ^[42] and regularly leads to a decline in the quality of a couple's sex life. ^[70]

Guilt and jealousy

While most people do not feel guilt or disgust about their sexual thoughts or fantasies, a substantial number do. In general, men and women are equally represented in samples of those who felt



St. Sebastian has historically been depicted as both a religious icon and a figure of covert sexual fantasy

guilt about their fantasies. The most notable exception was found in a 1991 study that showed that women felt more guilt and disgust about their first sexual fantasies. In women, greater guilt about sex was associated with less frequent and less varied sexual fantasies, and in men, it was associated with less sexual arousal during fantasies.^[71] Women also reported more intense guilt than men; both sexes reported greater guilt if their arousal and orgasm depended on a fantasy.^[72]

Studies have also been carried out to examine the direct connection between guilt and sexual fantasy, as opposed to sex and guilt. One study found that in a sample of 160 conservative Christians, 16% of men and women reported guilt after sexual fantasies, 5% were unhappy with themselves, and 45% felt that their fantasies were "morally flawed or unacceptable". Studies that examined guilt about sexual fantasy by age have unclear results—Knoth et al. (1998) and Ellis and Symons (1990) found that younger people tended to feel less guilt about their fantasies, whereas Mosher and White (1980) found the opposite. [71]

A 2006 study examined guilt and jealousy in American heterosexual married couples. It associated guilt with an individual's fantasy ("*How guilty do you feel when you fantasize about...*") and jealousy with the partner's fantasy ("*How jealous do you feel when your partner fantasizes about...*"). Higher levels of guilt were found among women, couples in the 21–29 age range, shorter relationships and marriages, Republicans, and Roman Catholics; lower levels in men, couples in the 41–76 range, longer relationships, Democrats, and Jews. Higher levels of jealousy were found in women, couples in the 21–29 range, Roman Catholics and non-Jewish religious affiliations; lower levels were found in men, couples in the 41–76 range, and Jews and the non-religious.^[73]

Fantasies and sexual crimes

Deviant sexual fantasies

Deviant sexual fantasies are sexual fantasies which involve illegal, nonconsensual, and sadistic themes.^[74] While people with paraphilia have deviant sexual fantasies, it is important to note that deviant sexual fantasies are not atypical and/or paraphilic. DSM-5 defines paraphilia as intense and persistent atypical preferences for sexual activities or targets like spanking, whipping, binding with erotic targets like children, animals, and/or rubber etc.^[75] While DSM-5 recognizes that paraphillias don't have to be pathological, psychiatrists still find it difficult to differentiate between paraphilic interests and paraphilic disorders,^[75] because the concept of normal of sexual fantasies is subjective. It is based on factors like history, society, culture and politics.^[75] For example, masturbation, oral, anal and homosexual sex were illegal in some American states and even considered to be paraphilic disorders in earlier DSM revisions.



Deviant sexual fantasies involve nonconsensual, illegal and sadistic themes artiste: Joanbanjo

When a study used statistical analysis and the Wilson sex fantasy questionnaire to investigate atypical fantasies, having zoophillic or pedophillic fantasies were found to be rare and only 7 themes including urination, crossdressing, rape etc. were considered atypical. [55] A lot of studies have also found that "atypical" sexual fantasies are quite common [75] as indulging in greater varieties of sexual fantasies increases sex-life satisfaction. [76] For example, in 2011 study found that over half of the older men in Berlin had "atypical" sexual fantasies with 21.8% of them having sadistic fantasies [77]- a prerequisite for sexual murders. [78][79][80][81] Another study found that dominance and submission themes were extremely popular in pornographic searches. [82]

Sexual crimes

Most research into sexual crimes involve men. Sexual crimes such as sexual homicides are quite rare^[74] because most deviant sexual fantasizers never engaged in deviant sexual behaviors^[52] and are not at risk of engaging in sexual crimes.^[83] Some have suggested that the frequency of sexual crimes is underestimated due to the narrowness of the legal definition of sexual homicides.^[74] The investigations of sexual crimes face several limitations such as the "definitions of sexual crimes, how and where the crimes are committed, incomplete or inaccurate information due to offender's motive to exaggerate, legal restrictions"^[84] and researchers' approaches (the Essentalist-descriptive approach^[85] or phenomenological descriptive approach^[84]).

Risk factors

Deviant and sadistic sexual fantasies are believed to be the underlying risk factors for sexual crimes.^[74] 70 - 85% of sexual offenders extensively engage in deviant sexual fantasies, ^{[86][87][88][89][90]} and certain themes can be attributed to types of sex crimes. ^[90] For example, serial sexual murderers have more rape

fantasies than non-serial sexual murderers^[89] and 82% of offenders that use a weapon engage violent sexual fantasies.^[90] Offenders that report deviant sexual fantasies have also been found to be more dangerous than offenders that do not.^[90]

Other risk factors that contribute to the likelihood of sex crimes include biological, physiological and psychological factors like mental disorders (especially paranoia &psychosis); violent history, arrests, poor academic performance, [74] substance abuse, financial gain, [91][92] unemployment, and watching pornography. [93] However, it is usually the combination, childhood sexual abuse and deviant fantasies that facilitate the jump from sexual fantasies to sexual crimes [74] and the nature of the crimes. For example, most rapists report both early traumatic experiences and sexually deviant fantasies [93][94] and sex murders of children reported a significantly more pre-crime childhood sexual abuse ad deviant sexual fantasies than sexual murderers of women. [93]

Sadistic sexual fantasies

Sadistic themes are consistently present in the sexual fantasies of offenders across various types of sexual crimes and varying risk factors. They typically involve finding victims, causing harm/pain during sexual intercourse and feelings of grandiosity/omnipotence during arousal.^[95]

They occur in high prevalence alongside other paraphilic fantasies in psychopaths and individuals with dark triad traits. [90] High narcissism correlate strongly with impersonal sexual fantasies [96] and studies suggested that the deviant and sadistic sexual fantasies serve as a coping mechanism for narcissistic vulnerability [79] Higher levels of psychopathy are associated with, impersonal, unrestricted, deviant, [97] paraphilic and wide ranges of sexual fantasies. [96] However, it has been suggested that this is due to an increased sex drive, which correlates with paraphilic interests. [98] Also, psychopathy increases the effect that porn has on the development of deviant fantasies such its contribution to the likelihood of engaging in rape fantasies. [97] The effects of psychopathy go further to increase likelihood of



Inflicting pain upon others is a common fantasy of sex offenders, which may include spanking as illustrated in the above image. Produced by Lewis Bald in 1913.

individuals carrying out their unrestricted deviant fantasies in real life ^[97] such as engaging in BDSM/sadomasochism or even rape. ^[90] However, BDSM fantasies have become quite common among the general population, ^[55] possibly due to its normalization by the popular Fifty Shades trilogy. The capitalization of the Fifty shades trilogy changed the perception of BDSM from being extreme, marginalized and dangerous to being fun fashionable and exciting ^[99]. Mainstreaming Fifty Shades has increased visibility and acceptability of BDSM and has embedded it in everyday life. ^[99]

Sadistic sexual fantasies and crime

Sadistic sexual fantasy is one of the key factors for understanding serial killers.^[100] Their sexual crimes are "tryouts" that maintain and develop their fantasies; i.e. they commit crimes according to their fantasies, then incorporate the crimes into their fantasies to increase arousal and subsequently develop its sadistic content.^[87]

A lot of sexual homicides are well planned^[101] due to extensive practice in form of sexual fantasies.^[89] The murders involve the infliction of a lot of pain and terror and this serves to satisfy the sadistic fantasy,^[101] albeit only temporarily. They start trying to replicate their fantasies more accurately ^[89] with practice and will continue until they are caught as a fantasy can never be replicated with 100% accuracy.

Childhood abuse plays a significant role in determining if sadistic fantasies will be tried out in real life. ^[74] Most sexual offenders that suffered childhood sexual abuse reveal an early onset of rape fantasies, ^[89] and sexual concerns like sexual conflict, incompetence, inhibitions, ignorance and social dysfunction. ^[88] These concerns cause stress and the offender relies on their deviant fantasies as a coping mechanism for their stress. ^[88] The unsuccessful resolution of the aforementioned issues causes an obsession with their fantasy world, where they feel in control. ^[88] They become heavily invested in their deviant fantasies ^[74] and when their fantasies start to lose their effectiveness due to desensitization or repression, they escalate and start actualizing their fantasies to relieve internal stress. ^[88] They plan their crimes to feel arousal ^[87] or commit violent compulsive murders. ^[23] Violent compulsive crimes are impulsive and occur because resistance and restrictions that prevent violent and sadistic fantasies from being acted out, can lead to anxiety or psychosomatic manifestations. These manifestations then cause uncontrollable desires to act out one's fantasy in order to find relief. ^[84]

Researchers found that the sadistic contents in fantasies began appearing about 1–7 years after the start of masturbation.^[87] Due to social awkwardness, most offenders lacked the opportunity to practice their sexual skills with a desired partner or gender and this contributes significantly to their reliance on their fantasies.^[87] Eventually, their fantasies and "tryouts" become their only source of arousal.^[87]

Some studies suggest that deviant sexual scripts might be learnt through social learning theory due to an early exposure via sexual molestation and reinforcements by orgasms and masturbation.^[74] However, not all sexually molested children grow up to be offenders unable to stop themselves from acting out their fantasies. MacCulloch and colleagues^[102] have suggested that the early traumatic experiences cause the early development of sadistic fantasies through sensory preconditioning and this might be the reason offenders find it too difficult to restrain themselves from trying out their sadistic fantasies in real life.^[102] While some might argue cognitive distortions as the cause of sexual crimes such as pedophilia, evidence suggests that cognitive distortions are used to justify actions after caught and do not motivate them.^[103]

References

Explanatory notes

a. Leitenberg and Henning charted multiple studies of men and women who fantasized during masturbation. More than half found that at least 80% of men claimed to have had fantasies during masturbation, and at least 67% of women reported the same.

Citations

- 1. Leitenberg & Henning 1995, p. 470.
- 2. Leitenberg, H., & Henning, K. (1995). Sexual fantasy. Psychological Bulletin, 117, 469-496.
- 3. Kasemy, Z; Desouky, D. ES; Abdelrasoul, G (2016). "Sexual fantasy, masturbation and pornography among Egyptians". *Sexuality & Culture*. **20**: 626–638.
- 4. Heiman 1977, p. 271.
- 5. Heiman 1977, p. 266.
- 6. Heiman 1977, pp. 271–272.
- 7. Heiman 1977, p. 272.
- 8. Leitenberg & Henning 1995, p. 475.
- 9. Leitenberg & Henning 1995, p. 491.
- 10. Bhugra, Rahman & Bhintade 2006, p. 206.
- 11. Scott 1994, p. 153.
- 12. Scott 1994, p. 163.
- 13. Rathus et al. 2005, p. 106.
- 14. Scott 1994, p. 155.
- 15. Klinger, E. (1971). Structure and functions of fantasy. New York, NY: John Wiley.
- 16. Singer, J. L. (1966). Day dreaming. New York, NY: Random House.
- 17. Coleman. D., & BusH. S. (1977). The liberation of sexual fantasy. *Psychol Today*.
- 18. Hicks, T. V., & Leitenberg, H. (2001). Sexual fantasies about one's partner versus someone else: Gender differences in incidence and frequency. *Journal of Sex Research*, 38, 43-50.
- 19. Davidson, J. K., & Hoffman, L. E. (1986). Sexual fantasies and sexual satisfaction: An empirical analysis of erotic thought. *Journal of Sex Research*, 22, 184-205.
- 20. Bowlby, J. (1982). Attachment and loss: Vol. 1. Attachment (2nd ed.). New York, NY: Basic Books.
- 21. Davis, D., Shaver, P. R., & Vernon, M. L. (2004). Attachment style and subjective motivations for sex. *Personality and Social Psychology Bulletin*, 30, 1076-1090.
- 22. Birnbaum, G. E., Hirschberger, G., & Goldenberg, J. L. (2011). Desire in the face of death: Terror management, attachment, and sexual motivation. *Personal Relationships*, 18, 1-19.
- 23. Birnbaum, G. E. (2007). Beyond the borders of reality: Attachment orientations and sexual fantasies. *Personal Relationships*, 14, 321-342.
- 24. Trivers, R. L. (1972). *Parental investment and sexual selection*. In B. Cambell (Ed.), Sexual Selection and the Descent of Man, 1871-1971. Chicago: Aldine.
- 25. Symons, D. (1987). Can Darwin's view of life shed light on human sexuality? In J. H. Geer and W. T. O'Donohue (Eds.), Theories of Human Sexuality. New York: Plenum.
- 26. Symons, D. (1979). The Evolution of Human Sexuality. New York: Oxford University Press.
- 27. Wilson 1978, p. 9.
- 28. Wilson 1978, p. 29.
- 29. Rathus et al. 2005, p. 206.
- 30. Fisher 1989, p. 275.
- 31. Fisher 1989, p. 274.
- 32. Fisher 1989, p. 151.
- 33. Rathus et al. 2005, p. 463.
- 34. Scott 1994, p. 157.
- 35. Nicholas 2004, p. 38.
- 36. Rathus et al. 2005, p. 398.
- 37. Leitenberg & Henning 1995, p. 469.
- 38. Joyal, Cossette & Lapierre 2015.
- 39. Leitenberg & Henning 1995, p. 481.
- 40. ABC News 2004, p. 27.

- 41. McCauley, C.; Swann, C. P. (1978). "Male-female differences in sexual fantasy". *Journal of Research in Personality*. **12**: 76–86.
- 42. Bhugra, Rahman & Bhintade 2006, p. 198.
- 43. Kelley, K (1985). "Sexual fantasy and attitudes as functions of sex of subject and content of erotica". *Imagination, Cognition & Personality.* **4**: 339–347.
- 44. Rudman, L. A; Heppen, J. B (2003). "Implicit romantic fantasies and women's interest in personal power: A glass slipper effect?". *Personality & Social Psychology Bulletin*. **29**: 1357–1370.
- 45. Ellis, B. J; Symons, D (1990). "Sex differences in sexual fantasy: An evolutionary psychological approach". *The Journal of Sex Research.* **27**: 527–555.
- 46. Wilson, G. D.; Lang, R. J. (1981). "Sex differences in sexual fantasy patterns". *Personality and Individual Differences*. **2**: 343–346.
- 47. Wilson, G. D. (1997). "Gender differences in sexual fantasy: An evolutionary analysis". *Personality & Individual Differences*. **22**: 27–31.
- 48. Person, E. S.; Terestman, N; Myers, W. A.; Goldberg, E. L.; Salvadori, C (1989). "Gender differences in sexual behaviours and fantasies in a college population". *Journal of Sex & Marital Therapy*. **15**: 187–198.
- 49. Lehmiller, J. J. (2012). How Do Men's and Women's Sexual Fantasies Differ? (http://www.lehmiller.com/blog/2012/2/29/how-do-mens-and-womens-sexual-fantasies-differ.html) *The Psychology of Human Sexuality*.
- 50. Rokach, A (1990). "Content analysis of sexual fantasies of males and females". *The Journal of Psychology*. **124**: 427–436.
- 51. Hsu, B; Kling, A; Kessler, C; Knapke, K; Diefenbach, P; Elias, J. E. (1994). "Gender differences in sexual fantasy and behaviour in a college population: A ten-year replication". *Journal of Sex & Marital Therapy*. **20**: 103–118.
- 52. Leitenberg, H; Henning, K (1995). "Sexual fantasy". Psychological Bulletin. 117: 469–496.
- 53. Gold, S. R.; Gold, R. G. (1991). "Gender differences in first sexual fantasies". *Journal of Sex Education & Therapy*. **17**: 207–216.
- 54. Bradford, J. M. W (1999). "The paraphilias, obsessive compulsive spectrum disorder, and the treatment of sexually deviant behaviour". *Psychiatric Quarterly*. **70**: 209–219.
- 55. Joyal, C. C.; Cossette, A; Lapierre, V (2014). "What exactly is an unusual sexual fantasy?". *The Journal of Sexual Medicine*. **12**: 328–340.
- 56. Fedoroff, J. P; Fishell, A; Fedoroff, B (1999). "A case series of women evaluated for paraphilic sexual disorders". *The Canadian Journal of Human Sexuality*. **8**: 127–140.
- 57. Dawson, S. J.; Bannerman, B. A.; Lalumiere, M. L. (2016). "Paraphilic interests: An examination of sex differences in a nonclinical sample". *Sexual Abuse: A Journal of Research and Treatment.* **28**: 20–45.
- 58. Zurbriggen, E.L.; Yost, M.R. (2004). "Power, desire, and pleasure in sexual fantasies". *The Journal of Sex Research*. **41**: 288–300.
- 59. Visser, B. A; DeBow, V; Pozzebon, J. A; Bogaert, A. F; Book, A (2015). "Psychopathic sexuality: The thin line between fantasy and reality". *Journal of Personality*. **83**: 376–388.
- 60. Baumeister, R. F. (2000). "Gender differences in erotic plasticity: The female sex drive as socially flexible and responsive". *Psychological Bulletin*. **126**: 347–374.
- 61. Bhugra, Rahman & Bhintade 2006, p. 199.
- 62. Girolami 2005, pp. 35–36.
- 63. Joyal 2015.
- 64. Strassberg & Lockerd 1998, pp. 404–405.
- 65. Strassberg & Lockerd 1998, p. 405.
- 66. Strassberg & Lockerd 1998, p. 416.
- 67. Rathus et al. 2005, p. 225.
- 68. Frostino 2006, p. 9.
- 69. Wilson 1978, p. 10.
- 70. Scott 1994, p. 82.
- 71. Leitenberg & Henning 1995, pp. 478–479.
- 72. Frostino 2006, pp. 9–10.
- 73. Frostino 2006, pp. 152–178.
- 74. Maniglio, R. (2010). The role of deviant sexual fantasy in the etiopathogenesis of sexual homicide: A systematic review. *Aggression and Violent Behavior*, 15(4), 294-302.

- 75. Joyal, C. C. (2014). How anomalous are Paraphilic interests? *Archives of Sexual Behavior*, *43*(7), 1241 –1243. doi:10.1007/s10508-014-0325-z
- 76. Kahr, B. (2008). Who's Been Sleeping in Your Head?: The Secret World of Sexual Fantasies. Basic Books.
- 77. Ahlers, C. J., Schaefer, G. A., Mundt, I. A., Roll, S., Englert, H., Willich, S. N., & Beier, K. M. (2011). How unusual are the contents of paraphilias? Paraphilia-associated sexual arousal patterns in a community-based sample of men. *The journal of sexual medicine*, 8(5), 1362-1370.
- 78. Reinhardt, J. M. (1957). Sex perversions and sex crimes: a psychocultural examination of the causes, nature and criminal manifestations of sex perversions. *Police science series*.
- 79. McCarthy, J. B. (1978). Narcissism and the self in homicidal adolescents. *The American Journal of Psychoanalysis*, 38(1), 19-29.
- 80. Brittain, R. P. (1970). The sadistic murderer. Medicine, Science and the Law, 10(4), 198-207.
- 81. Revitch, E. (1965). Sex murder and the potential sex murderer. *Diseases of the Nervous System*, 26(10), 640-648.
- 82. Ogas, O., & Gaddam, S. (2011). A billion wicked thoughts: What the Internet tells us about sexual relationships. Penguin.
- 83. Critelli, J. W., & Bivona, J. M. (2008). Women's erotic rape fantasies: An evaluation of theory and research. *Journal of Sex Research*, 45(1), 57-70.
- 84. Schlesinger, L. B. (2007). Sexual homicide: Differentiating catathymic and compulsive murders. *Aggression and Violent Behavior*, 12(2), 242-256.
- 85. Bartels, R., & Parsons, C. (2009). The social construction of a serial killer. *Feminism & Psychology*, 19(2), 267-280.
- 86. Myers, W. C., & Blashfield, R. (1997). Psychopathology and personality in juvenile sexual homicide offenders. *Journal of the American Academy of Psychiatry and the Law Online*, 25(4), 497-508.
- 87. MacCulloch, M. J., Snowden, P. R., Wood, P. J., & Mills, H. E. (1983). Sadistic fantasy, sadistic behaviour and offending. *The British Journal of Psychiatry*, *143*(1), 20-29.
- 88. Burgess, A. W., Hartman, C. R., Ressler, R. K., Douglas, J. E., & McCormack, A. (1986). Sexual homicide a motivational model. *Journal of Interpersonal Violence*, *1*(3), 251-272.
- 89. Prentky, R. A., Burgess, A. W., Rokous, F., Lee, A., Hartman, C., Ressler, R., & Douglas, J. (1989). The presumptive role of fantasy in serial sexual homicide. *American Journal of Psychiatry*, *146*(7), 887-891.
- 90. Woodworth, M., Freimuth, T., Hutton, E. L., Carpenter, T., Agar, A. D., & Logan, M. (2013). High-risk sexual offenders: An examination of sexual fantasy, sexual paraphilia, psychopathy, and offence characteristics. *International Journal of Law and Psychiatry*, *36*(2), 144–156. doi:10.1016/j.ijlp.2013.01.007
- 91. Heide, K. M., Beauregard, E., & Myers, W. C. (2009). Sexually motivated child abduction murders: Synthesis of the literature and case illustration. *Victims and Offenders*, 4(1), 58-75.
- 92. Chan, H. C. O., & Heide, K. M. (2008). Weapons used by juveniles and adult offenders in sexual homicides: An empirical analysis of 29 years of US data. *Journal of Investigative Psychology and Offender Profiling*, 5 (3), 189-208.
- 93. Beauregard, E., Stone, M. R., Proulx, J., & Michaud, P. (2008). Sexual Murderers of Children Developmental, Precrime, Crime, and Postcrime Factors. *International Journal of Offender Therapy and Comparative Criminology*, *52*(3), 253-269.
- 94. Knight, R. A., & Sims-Knight, J. E. (2004). Testing an etiological model for male juvenile sexual offending against females. *Journal of child sexual abuse*, *13*(3-4), 33-55.
- 95. Carabellese, F., Maniglio, R., Greco, O., & Catanesi, R. (2010). The role of fantasy in a serial sexual offender: A brief review of the literature and a case report. *Journal of Forensic Sciences*, *56*(1), 256–260. doi:10.1111/j.1556-4029.2010.01536.x
- 96. Baughman, H. M., Jonason, P. K., Veselka, L., & Vernon, P. A. (2014). Four shades of sexual fantasies linked to the dark triad. *Personality and Individual Differences*, 67, 47–51. doi:10.1016/j.paid.2014.01.034
- 97. Visser, B. A., DeBow, V., Pozzebon, J. A., Bogaert, A. F., & Book, A. (2014). Psychopathic sexuality: The thin line between fantasy and reality. *Journal of Personality*, 83(4), 376–388. doi:10.1111/jopy.12110
- 98. Dawson, S. J., Bannerman, B. A., & Lalumiere, M. L. (2014). Paraphilic interests: An examination of sex differences in a Nonclinical sample. *Sexual Abuse: A Journal of Research and Treatment*, 28(1), 20–45. doi:10.1177/1079063214525645
- 99. Martin, A. (2013). Fifty shades of sex shop: Sexual fantasy for sale. *Sexualities*, *16*(8), 980–984. doi:10.1177/1363460713508901

- 100. Claus, C., & Lidberg, L. (1999). Serial murder as a 'Schahriar syndrome'. *The Journal of Forensic Psychiatry*, 10(2), 427-435.
- 101. Keppel, R. D., & Walter, R. (1999). Profiling killers: A revised classification model for understanding sexual murder. *International Journal of Offender Therapy and Comparative Criminology*, 43(4), 417-437.
- 102. MacCulloch, M., Gray, N., & Watt, A. (2000). Brittain's sadistic murderer syndrome reconsidered: An associative account of the aetiology of sadistic sexual fantasy. *The Journal of Forensic Psychiatry*, 11(2), 401-418.
- 103. Howitt, D., & Sheldon, K. (2007). The role of cognitive distortions in paedophilic offending: Internet and contact offenders compared. *Psychology, Crime & Law*, 13(5), 469-486.

Bibliography

Journal articles

- Aylwin, A. Scott; Reddon, John R.; Burke, Andrew R. (2005), "Sexual Fantasies of Adolescent Male Sex Offenders in Residential Treatment: A Descriptive Study", *Archives of Sexual Behavior*, 34 (2): 231–239, doi:10.1007/s10508-005-1800-3, PMID 15803256
- Birnbaum, Gurit E. (2007), "Beyond the borders of reality: Attachment orientations and sexual fantasies", *Personal Relationships*, **14** (2): 321–342, doi:10.1111/j.1475-6811.2007.00157.x
- Bhugra, Dinesh; Rahman, Qazi; Bhintade, Rahul (2006), "Sexual fantasy in gay men in India: a comparison with heterosexual mean", Sexual and Relationship Therapy, 21 (2): 197–207, doi:10.1080/14681990600554207
- Carlson, Earl R.; Coleman, Catherine Elaine Havelock (1977), "Experiential and motivational determinants of the richness of an induced sexual fantasy", *Journal of Personality*, 45 (4): 528–542, doi:10.1111/j.1467-6494.1977.tb00169.x, PMID 592084
- Ellis, Bruce J.; Symons, Donald (1990), "Sex Differences in Sexual Fantasy: an Evolutionary Psychological Approach", *The Journal of Sex Research*, **27** (4): 527–555, doi:10.1080/00224499009551579, JSTOR 3812772
- Heiman, Julia R. (1977), "A Psychophysiological Exploration of Sexual Arousal Patterns in Females and Males", *Psychophysiology*, 14 (3): 266–274, doi:10.1111/j.1469-8986.1977.tb01173.x, PMID 854556
- Joyal, Christian C (2015), "Defining "Normophilic" and "Paraphilic" Sexual Fantasies in a Population-Based Sample: On the Importance of Considering Subgroups.", *Sexual Medicine*, Epub ahead of print: 1–10, doi:10.1002/sm2.96
- Joyal, Christian C; Cossette; Amélie; Lapierre; Vanessa (2015), "What exactly is an unusual sexual fantasy?" (PDF), *Journal of Sexual Medicine*, **12** (2): 328–340, doi:10.1111/jsm.12734
- Knox, Jean (2005), "Sex, shame and the transcendent function: the function of fantasy in self development", *Journal of Analytical Psychology*, **50** (5): 617–639, doi:10.1111/j.0021-8774.2005.00561.x, PMID 16255728
- Leitenberg, Harold; Henning, Kris (1995), "Sexual Fantasy", Psychological Bulletin, 117 (3): 469–496, doi:10.1037/0033-2909.117.3.469, PMID 7777650
- Mednick, Robert A. (1977), "Gender-Specific Variances in Sexual Fantasy", *Journal of Personality Assessment*, 41 (3): 248–254, doi:10.1207/s15327752jpa4103_4, PMID 886421
- Nicholas, L.J. (2004), "The Association Between Religiosity, Sexual Fantasy, Participation in Sexual Acts, Sexual Enjoyment, Exposure, and Reaction to Sexual Materials Among Black South Africans", *Journal of Sex & Marital Therapy*, 30 (1): 37–42, doi:10.1080/00926230490247264
- Smith, David; Over, Ray (1987), "Male Sexual Arousal as a Function of the Content and the Vividness of Erotic Fantasy", *Psychophysiology*, 24 (3): 334–339, doi:10.1111/j.1469-8986.1987.tb00304.x, PMID 3602290
- Strassberg, Donald S.; Lockerd, Lisa K. (August 1998), "Force in Women's Sexual Fantasies", *Archives of Sexual Behavior*, 27 (4): 403–415, doi:10.1023/A:1018740210472, ISSN 1573-2800, PMID 9681121

Books

• Fisher, Seymour (1989), Sexual Images of the Self: The Psychology of Erotic Sensations and Illusions (First ed.), Hillsdale, New Jersey: Lawrence Erlbaum Associates, Inc., ISBN 978-0-8058-0439-3

- Friday, Nancy (1998). Men In Love. New York: Delta Trade Paperbacks. ISBN 0-385-33342-0.
- Rathus, Spencer A.; Nevid, Jeffrey S.; Fichner-Rathus, Lois; Herold, Edward S.; McKenzie, Sue Wicks (2005), *Human sexuality in a world of diversity* (Second ed.), New Jersey, USA: Pearson Education, ISBN 978-0-205-40615-9
- Scott, Gini Graham (1994), *The Power of Fantasy: Illusion and Eroticism in Everyday Life* (First ed.), New York, New York: Carol Publishing Group, ISBN 978-1-55972-239-1
- Wilson, Glenn Daniel (1978), *The secrets of sexual fantasy* (First ed.), London, England: J.M. Dent & Sons Ltd., ISBN 978-0-460-04309-0

Theses and dissertations

- Davidoff, Orion (2005), Social Influences As A Mediator Of Gender Differences In Sexual Fantasy, Sexual Desire, and Sexual Behavior, presented to the Department of Psychology of the University of South Carolina.
- Frostino, Andrea Taylor (August 2006), *Guilt And Jealousy Associated With Sexual Fantasies Among Heterosexual Married Individuals*, presented to the Faculty of the School of Human Service Professions, Widener University.
- Girolami, Lisa (August 2005), A Comparison Of The Content Of Sexual Fantasies Of Lesbian And Heterosexual Women, presented to the Department of Educational Psychology, Administration, and Counseling, California State University.

Other

The American Sex Survey: A Peek Beneath the Sheets (PDF), ABC News, 2004-10-21, retrieved 2010-04-13

Retrieved from "https://en.wikipedia.org/w/index.php?title=Sexual_fantasy&oldid=753825885"

Categories: Erotica | Habits | Human sexuality | Imagination

- This page was last modified on 9 December 2016, at 12:19.
- Text is available under the Creative Commons Attribution-ShareAlike License; additional terms may apply. By using this site, you agree to the Terms of Use and Privacy Policy. Wikipedia® is a registered trademark of the Wikimedia Foundation, Inc., a non-profit organization.